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I~Tt:RVIEWEE: RALPH DUNCM: 

.INTERVIEWER.: PAIGE MULllOLL.!\.X 

April 	18, 1969 

M: 	 Let's begin simply by identifying you. You are Ralph Dungan,. and 

you are currently Chanccllor ' of Education. of the State .of· New Jersey. 

D: 	 Chancellor of Higher Educa~ion. ·. 

M: 	 ·1Ii6her' Education, excuse me. · Your positions . in government d0:ring 

the Johnson Administration· were -as special assistant from the time 

Mr. Johnson became .President until late in 1964, when you were appointed . ,/ 

as Ambassador. to Chile, where you remained until 1967 when you took 

this job. 

J): 	 Correct, July of . '67, right~ . 

H: 	 Let's go .back, beginning with your career with Senator Kennedy ·in 

the 1 50 1 s. Did you have occasion during that time to work with 

Senator 	Johnson in his leadership position? 

D: 	 Yes, I did. Not so much directly ,;dth him, in fact I would say my 

direct contacts with him in that period were infrequent, although 

when we got bills to the .floor in the labor fi~ld, especially 

rni n i::-.uo wage, Dr. Douglas' Pension and Welfare Fund Bill, a."ld 

Senator Kennedy's T.andrum-Gri ffin Bill- ­

N: 	 What turned out to be the Landrum-Griffin Bill . 

D: 	 Ri ght. l1y principal contacts with - ~he office actually were through 

Jerry Siegel who, as yo•1 will recall> the?!- was Secretary of the 

Ma jority, and through Walter Jenkins when we dealt _directly -with 

Senator Johnson's Texas office. So that my associations w~ 
.,. 

President Johnson at tha t time were intermittent, let me put; it 
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that way. 

M: 	 Were the st:iff-to-staff relati.ous between the Kcml<~dy. staff :ind the 

Johnson staff any different than they were with any other senator 

at that time? 

D: 	 Yes, I would say they were not especially good. · when I was in. the 

' sen~tor's office directly--Senator Kennedy's office--that only 

really covered a ·year _when I was a legislative assistant. Then I 

went over to the committee staff. During that year> howev-" ::- > and 

that was the year '57-'58_roughly, Sorensen.was the other principal 

assistant and. h~s .. reputati.on was not lon.g in terms of getting ·along 

with other senatorial staf.fs; So like ltlY predecessor Lee White~ 

I conducted a good deal ·of the relationships with other staff 

people, and that was particularly true with the Johnson office. 

And of course at that time, obviously, there was some· degree 

of building competition· for .the presidential nomination iu 1960, 

so the gene'ral attitude of the office ·was in the political co~text, 

whereas there was business to get done that required contacts from 

ti~e to time, ~nd I usually _took c~re of them. And I think Feldman 

follm.Jed me, he did the same thing. 

M: 	 Wha~ a!lout Senator Kennedy and Senator Johnson's personal working 

together. ·Did their business require and justify quite a lot of ·this> 

or not so much? 

D: 	 Oh yes, I think they_h~d a cooi, more or less proper relationship. 

I don't think it was ever what I would call a warm or . trusting one. 

After all, they we~e contenders after a very big prize. 

tl: That was fairly clearly understood by both camps? 
v.:I"' 

D: 	 Well I would cert<iinly say that, I can't speak for the Johnson camp, 
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but it 	damned sure was true of the Kennedy camp, very· true. I mean 

we rccognizc_ct him very early in the game as probably the most serious · 

contender in that nomination. 	
.. 

M: 	 That has to influence the relationship. 

D: 	 Oh, absolut~ly. And, as you know, in the Senate, particularly when 

one of the contenders is Majority Lcade~, there are all sorts of 

opportunities to·. zing anyone who is aspiring to anything. 

' . M: Was there some -of that done? 	
·~ . 

D: Well, you know, what the hell, you always get a little bit paranoid · 
. 	 . 

about ·it. r•m.sure..the_~e '~ere, and we felt it probably more ti.iaes · 

than: it actually was occurring. . Y.es, there were • . I ·can't think 
·' 
of 

spec~~ic . things, but I can think of the general feeling on our 

part that you had to :watch him li.ke a hawk, and we did! 

M: He'd b£,en there a long time, and he knew how. to do it too! . 


. D: Yes, that·' s righ_t • 
... 
H: 	 And if any zinging was going to be done, he was going to be doing it! 

R: 	 That's absolutely right. 

On the other hand, in. the .conduct of the woric of the Sena.ta, I. 

must say, President Johnson really always put that--! always felt 

--first. Now that isn 1 t to say that his own politlcal p~edilecti~..-,· -:.~ 

or prejudices did:t' t ioflue;.1ce how he manipulated· and opar~teci the 

Senate. But ! .. think~ given that caveat, I never had the feeliag 

that he was really using his Senate leadership position, _in terms 

of the -Senate's business, really. to ,put anybody in a bad position~ 

schedule us inconveniently. 

I remember though that was· a problem, particularly during the 
~ 

latter two years imm~diately preceding the nomin.:ition in 1960. 
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. l:Ccnnc:dy \ ..as . out il1 the cpuntry nll the tir-c .. and . there w.'.!re times 

when the Senate's schedule and his schedule di<ln't exactly coincide. 

'That is one of the areas ·where I think we used to think {personally: 

believe, looking ba<;k on it somewhat irration.:illy) things ·were not 

being adjusted to suit ·our convenience. 

M: 	 Right. What about the campaign of ·1960? Did you work actively in 

the preconvention campaign on the Kennedy staff? 

D: 	 Yes .. I left that Hill around March on April .::. ~ 1960 and went down
•. 

the Rill to 'the . S:-L (?) Building and beca.-ne part of. the campaign 

staff at t~at point. \ 
.\ 

. :\ 
M: 	 And then : stayed with it through the convention,. and were at the 

convention? 

D: " Right. 
.. 

M: 	 ~n1at kind · of detail or recollections can you dredge up of the general 

de~ision-making that .led to the vice presidency being offered to 

Mr. Johnson 1 . 

D: 	 I don't really recall. I was not involved, except in a second:~·.ry 

. or tertiary position. My beat at that convention .. as it was many 

times during the preconve_ntion period (tape interrupted by l'1r. Dungan 1 s 

secretary)-­

. 	 M: You were talking about what ·your particular job had been in 'this 


convention• . 


D: 	 I was our principal liaison with labor peoplc, · so that I didn't have, 

as many of 'my colleagues who were at that convention, a delegati<?n 

or more, or particular people. I kind of wandered across the whole 

spectrum 	,.dth la.boi delegates and labor leaders -who were iuvc:Uved. 

On the other hand, I cannot say that> since labor ·was such an 
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important elen~nt in this particular decision w~'rc talking:~out» 

that .is> the vice presidential c~ndidate> I didn't re~lly have ·any ­

influence at all. I received th~ inform.:itio'n as to the choice with, 

I must say> a con~lcte . sense of shock and despair knowing-~aside 
~ . 

froin my personal feelings--tha~ the beat that ·: was .covering, I 

knew that this would make the campaign more difficult. 

M: ·How:much trouble did the labor leaders make right at that fi°rst 

.­

D: 	 ·oh, they raised hell. It was a ·terribly difficult ·period fo~ many · 

becaus~ a lot of them actually had been in .the-.-they were 'never·-really 

terribly fond of John Kenu.edy> certain of the~ . were>· but .I would 

say the labor · mov~ment as a wh.ola was not enthusi~stic about John 

Kennedy. He was - too independent for .them as . so forth. And there 

was the whole Landrum-Griffin--the whole labor reforn movement in. 

the late 'SO's was more or less associat~d with . the Ken~edy name 

. I 	 . 

. and with him persona.Uy; so he .was not in .good shape with labor. 

And I think t~e support th~t he got at the .1960 convention was not 

a .J,.ittle contributed to by an anxiety abo.ut Mr. Johnson, about 

.whom they f _elt -less confident. ·so that when Kennedy then turned 

around a;:id made Mr. ~ohnson his Vice President, they really were 

tearing their hair out. 

M: 	 They rea~ty · considered Johnson very distinctly. anti-labor - du~ng 

that ·period. 

D: 	 Yes> I would say so. 

M: 	 ·With pretty .good justification in your view? 
-· 
D: 	 Well> you know> Mr. Johnson had his constituency too> and Texas was 

~ 
not ex?ctly a warm place. Brown and Root> for instance> a big element 
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I understand in Texas politics and political nKmey, a.nd hell's bells, 

"things that we were doing that were favorable to the building tr.ad~s 

didn't sit l.Jell with people like Brown and Root. So, whatever 

Mr~ Johnson's attitudes were on labor quC?stions, I would say that he 

was ' tiior~ accurately reflecting the attitude .of his constitue~cy th~ 

Mr. Yarborough, ' for instance. 

M: What ·about · the alleged strain on relations with Robert Kennedy and 

Mr • . Johnson which some people say date f~o~ this vice presid~nt 

decision? Was. this the first instnace of it, or -did that go bacl~ 

before then? 

·D: ·No. Look, Mr •. • J'ohnso::i and 'Hr. Robert Kennedy were, I .would say, 

antipa~het_i_c personalities. . They thought differently, a_lways. I 

think it probably manifested itself most. seriously in tenns ·of political 

. re lationships at that period, maybe for t~e . first -time , I really. 

don't .know. · I would t;hink that that probably would have been the 
. . . . . . . 

first time that it might have, although certainly in connection 

with the McClellan hearings, -it might also, but I don't · recall any 

incidents. 

M: ··This was the · ea;rlier _hearings _when Robert Kennedy w.<;.:. cou_nsel. 

D: The Hoffa-­

M: Yes. What about after the election and the inauguration of Mr. John·••tn 

as Vice . President, did you have occasion to have a close idea of how 

Mr. Kennedy saw what he wanted Johnson to be doing as Vice Pre_side.1t, 

whnt role he wanted Johnson to play? 

D.: No, I think Kenned)• belonged in th'?t school of thought that really 
. 

saw the vice presidency as a non-jo~. On 'the other hand, Mr~-Kennedy, 

havinc; that feeling, was very, very concerned about Mr. Johnson's 
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position and that he he treated with digni.ty to the extent that that 

could be done in. the context of the job. There were many times when 
, 

I heard him tell ·the 1nembers of· the staff who dealt n1ore directly 

wi.th the Johnson people than I d.id--although I had quite a bit to do 

· with them i~deed, because of the relationship that I had built up 

with Walter on the llill. · When there would be st.icky points in the 

White House, where the Johnson office felt they were getting .scr.cwed 

or something had gone awry, Walter would often call me and .then I 

would try to . deal with other people on ·the staff who were ·a little 

more hawkish--considerably more hawkish than I ·was. 
._ 

I ~clt, I think . 
. . 

quite a bit like the President did about Mr. Johnson•. . · . 
. ..... 

M: You·were the liaison man· then, in a sense, in addition to your other 

duties ~~hich were considerable. 

D: Yes, but yc:u know I would 'say off and on, it wasn't anything that I 
•· 

. spent a lot of time at. There ·were intermittent ~ituatio~s that ~1ould 

come up and they were usually relatively petty, :objectively ·speaking> . 

but pretty serious and important in tenns of Mr. Johnson's perception 

of them. 

M: Did Mr. Johnson generally get included in the really important 

things, or was he frequently left out for one reason or another? 

D ~ I would say that by and large he was included, although I'm sure 

. there are many times that he was excluded and probably more by 

inadvertence than deliberately. Again, unless the President really 

thought, "Gee, i'd better have Lyndon her:e," nobody else would think 

about it. That staff was an intensely personally oriented s~aff, 

the kind of thing that Johnson tried to get when he bec~e President, 
:§. 

but I submit you can't force that kind of thing. That has to· come 
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out of relatively lorig association. I always felt that the attempt 

in effect to enforce a 150 perc"=nt loyalty and love was his greatcs.t. 

undoing as .a .Politician ·and as a President in terms of that narrow 

spectrum of the .Whit~ House-. I know my o~m reaction was that way, 

it was complicated obviously by m1 relationship to Presid~nt Kennedy.· 

You know, what the hell, my attitt.>de in staying on at his request 

afterwards was basical~y, he's the PtesiQ.en~, _and we ow~ the. loyalty 

to the. office and to him.. But you can't force the kitl"d of loy~lty 

that ·he wanted on the kind ·of peop~e who were in the Uhite House under 
.. 

Kenttt!dy, and I don'· t · .th~nk he was very_ successful, myself, in c1oing· . 

it with the people that· came after us. 

M: 	 He ultit;?ately, I think, had to go back and get people who had serv<:.d 

him for a long time back in the '50's, and perhaps that was· why. 

D: 	 That's right. Like Tex Goldschmidt, Harry, and all those guys. 

M: 	 ·one of your jobs for President Kennedy was . in the area of recruiting · 

executive- talent. Did Mr. Johnson get soli'.e of his people into 

positions whare ·he wanted them -while Mr. Ken..rtedy was still President? . 

D: 	 Relatively few. It was always a si.;eat. I did not handi.t!, these ; 

The juc!.;,.!ships ·were handled fron: the Justice D7parm~nt to Kenny 

O'Donnell and then to the Pres ident, inainly because of their high.ly 

political ·nature, a."ld also bec ause of the relationship between . the 

At~arney General . and President Kennedy. Bu~ I ·can recall some 

' 
conv.ersation s about judicial appointments that caused all sorts of 

pain and sweat • . 

. 
M: 	 }lr. Johnson wanted to be able to continue sort of the . patronage · 

-· arrangements that he'd had before. 


i 

D: 	 That's right. And that made it ver y difficult, I must say . ...In r.:y 
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opini.on this is _one place_ that Mr. Johnson w.'.ls kind of not living 

l~ith the vice presidency. lie never cou1c.1 recongize that he l.,as no 
: 

ionger senator from Texas> but Vice President ·of .the. United States> 

·.. 
and his attempt to continue to c~mtrol the poiitical-environtnent 

in Texas obviously ·put him in .conflict with Yarborough ·and Tower 

. - and the -whole Texas establishment. He just wasn't there anymor.~. 

And I mus~ ' say t~at this is one thing ~hat Kennedy never .really 
' . 

understood-.-John.·Kennedy. He always . thought of President .Joh~son. as . 
being a very important influence> a very important actor in the whole 

advance~ent ·of the President's program on the .Hill: He thought ·· 

Lyndon ought ·to · be µp there really beating .their ~eads in> as Lyndon 
. ' 

·tried to make _Hubert do> you se.e. And Kennedy never recognized .that 

Lyndoa as ­ Vice Prc~si~ent didn't have this clout that ·he had as 

Majority Leader. 

M: You'va got to ·be a member of the club, you can 1 t be an ex-mernbe ,- . 

D: That's right. ·. . There's nothing ·so ~ead as an· ex-member. And I 

think as 
. 

Johnson imposed unrealistic standards . . . . . . on.· Humphrey~ · 
. . 

so . did .· 

Kenr1edy on J·ohnson> although I must say my . impression always 1.-.is . · 

that Johnson .never really .drove hioself in that rc:spect--I couldn't .. 

sea that he ever, did ·anyway. . We certainly didn 1 t think t~at ·he did • . 

M: This mention you ·:made of the trouble with Mr• .Johnson and the Tc:~e.s 

senators is at least part of the background for President Ken~~dy's 

last trip. 

D: That's right. 

M: Was that clearly understood as 

D: Oh> absolutely, absolutely. I 

prior to the decision to make 

an errand for Lyndon Johnson? 


was in on the conversations in-the t-7eeks
.. 
that· trip. . And Kennedy r..ade th'at trip> 
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I can say for all history and posterity, without any doubt> ns a 

favor to Lyndon Johnson. 

1'l: It was then an errand of that kind? 

D: A!>sol_utely. • 

M: Is that why some of . the Kennedy staff apparently. were against it, 

certainly not because· they ·thought it would be ·dangerous but because . 

they didn't . think he ought to be doing .chores for Lyndon J~hnson? 

D: No, I never heard that. 1 don't. really. think th~re w~s -anything 

of . that. -Because as it was . a favor for Lyndon ·Johnson, it was also 

a favor for Joh_n F. Kennedy; because it was to his interest that the 

party . in Texas be united in terms of the · l964. election, and Kennedy 
. . 

was intarested in it from a self-interest point .of .view. But that 

wouldn't have be.en the place that he ·would . have started to build· a 

party that wa.s loyal ~o him, except Lyndon's .strong urging. ~s you 

probably know, Adl~i Stevenson had been in Dallas a couple of weeks 

before and came back and reported that, "boy, that was really ·a mean 

town." · 

M: There had been an incident of some kind. 

D: There had bean an incident, right.' · And so 
. 

· feeling as a r~sult of Stevenson's trip on 

there was soI!!c of that 

the part of the staff, 

especially Ken O'Ponnell and we weren't enthusiastic. My advice 

wasn't asked for and not given, and I didn't feel that strongly 

.anyway, I ·didn 1 t know that much about it. But I was in on conv~r-

sations when I know this poin~ ~.,as argued very much> and Kennedy 

would come back and say, "But Lyndon Johnson really wants me to do 

11: 

it ·and I've got to do it." 

What about the immediate after math of the assassination? Do you have 
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any strong ~mpressions that linc;~r on from Hr • .Johnson's first bours · 

or first days? 

D: Yes", I do. In the first hours and the fi-rst days, particu~arly 

the first week~ I would say he was an extrc~~y loneiy and confused 

.· 

. man. Everyh_ody was kind of beat and he ,l.;as beat ·i:n a sense, 

psychologically more than anyone else. He really was distraught 

.. as far as th~ private side of him, .as those of us who were around 
. -

close saw. Terribly · dep~ndent! . You knoti, he 'was the greatest 

.. 

bull-shitter; ·and is, that · ever walked down the pipe. But I remember 
.... 

one night talking to him when the question was whether any o_f us 

-were going 't .o stay · '!n, it was very unce.r~ain, he said "I need you 

guys more than he eve-r needed you." · .And to me he s~id, ''I don, t 

· know anybody." 
. . 

And I · said, "Aw-, heavens, Mr. . . •. 
President, you k~ow - . 

a hundred thousand ·more people than I '11 ever know through. tl-- ~ length 
. . 

and breadth of this country." . ·"No," he said, ''You don't understand. 
! 

I really don't know p·eople. I don't knm~ the kinds of people that 
-· 

we're going. to need," and so forth. · T.hat was genuine. If you ·took 

away the exaggerati.on, ·I know that was genuine, · or .i: ·thought it was 

genuine at the t:i,me .. I would say · that he was a figure .that one 

cert?-inly could have sympathized with. 

M: Did this being distraught and beat and so on lead him to make 

perhaps some Dis takes of tactfulness toward· the family or. towa~d 

the Kenne dy people that caree back to haunt him later on? 

D: I never found that. No, I didn't think so. The Kennedy family 

-· 
were pre tty shook themselves, pretty sensitiv~ on ·Lyndon arryway> 

but I thought he went out of his l'lay, everything I saw, he was going
' 1lt 

out of his way to be symp~thetic, not only to the fmnily but~to all 
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of us. 

H: What about the Johnson. people right after the trnnsition, the stnff 

D: 

-:people who came with him? Did they throw their weight around in ways ... 
that irritated the feelings of the people who were t ho!re. pretty bad? . 

. . 
Oh, they did,. I 'think there was a little-.-as far as I'm concerned, 

no--but my observation ·is that there· was the greatest p"roblem "witli "" . .. 

O'Do.nnell." · And !"would say that was. . ._.. . . 90 percent O' Donnell's fault, 

understandable becat.is.e ·of the str.ess _and strai~, but also· b~ca~se . 
. . 

of his own personality. And .Lyndon's attempt to hold him, particularly, 

he and O'Br;i."e~, who had a symbolic value ·for President Johnson, as .. 

well as a p:ractica;I._one--and I think he :i<ne~~ : that practical one-_-the 

proble~ is how do· you take a g_uy who had the posit.ion physically 

and ot:herwi.:;e . in that operation and at the same time have your own 
·­

guys .right in there makin·g those kinds of ~ecisions ! 

So there was · a long time-- long time in a n:iatter of weeks-- tension 

going on there as to who was going to ·sit in that office ­right outside 

the President's office, control of t~e p~one cal~s . and who got into 

see him and all ·that business. 

M: That can be _importa..•t, like you say, even though in i.tself it is not 

very. 

D: Absolu~e };y critical. .· I e.~an, if I had been President Johnson, I 

would have just said, "Out. Kenney, I really want you, you ~it ovar 

he.re · on ·the other side of me, or do~-n the hall," or something. And 

if O'Donnr::ll had been smart, he would have said, "Mr. Presi4cnt, 

I'm delighted to stay o~ with you or not" as the. case may be, "But 

in any 

here." 

even·t I'm not going to sit out here. You need your own 
~ 

guy 
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N: 	 Were the Johnson people pretty good1 _Did he bring a pretty good 

staff w~th him Jn that first period when you were still there? 

D: 	 Well, _I must say by and large, yes. Certainly, Walter was the Rock 

of Gibi·altar and a terrific guy with good judgment. Ile and I worked 

very closely in that difficult tr~nsition , period. B~sby 11 I guess,,. 

.· 	 came··along a little later • . 

M: 	 A littl~ bit.,"_-right. 

D: 	 I would say they were all pretty good. people. Let1s see, who yas -· 

it that came in immediately with him? 
.... 

· M: 	 I guess _Reedy c;ame with him. 

D: 	 George. 

M: 	 And Bill Moyers must have come right in there for awhile and then 

left after that. _ 

D: 	 I would say as far as the Kenne dy staff were concerned and certainly 

as far. as I personally am concerned, no s _train at all. · They were 

competent guys who . picked up as quickly as anybody -could in an 
. 	 . . 

environment that was comple~ely foreign ~nd strange to them. They . 

worked god~a~ful · hours. 

There was one little guy, I · remember, who was .respons.!.ble for 

Eric Goldman's appointment ~ltimately, who I thought was a real 

mc:nac~ to everybody. 1 never could figure out l.'hy Walte.r thoaght 

he was-­

M: 	 Is this Valenti? 

D: 	 No, no, no. Not Val_enti. Valenti' s very sharp, a very good fellow. 

M: 	 · I was going to say, that would have been a surprise. · 

D: 	 No, this was a little guy, I even forget his name, he was a Princeton 
~ 

graduate, and pre tty fresh out of Princeton, and I gucss .hc ..had 
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'Worlwd up in the Johnson Senate off lee at one ti111~ o.r another> and 

Walter had him around. He was . an .itch> but not thnt significant .. 

~nsignificant item in history. 

'H: · 	 I get the impression sometimes, talking to 'various ~eople> and 

nobody really says so I guess> but that a lot of · Mr • .Johnson's · 

troubles dated from Walter Jenkins' departure> that . he was really 

a strong rock .. 

D: 	 · A~solutely. There ~-;asn 't : anybody around who ·r . think knew hon to 

:handle_> if · I can use that expression·>.·Mr. Johnson· as ·well as Walter· 

did. He was symp~thetic • . As a rr;att:er of fact> Mr. · Johnson reaily 

took from Walter Jenkins his substance. He i~ that. way with pe.o.ple, 

you 'r.e .very well aware> and historia!is have . remar!1:ed·· i~ already so 
~ I don't say anything .he_re that .people don't. know·~ ~-He really took . 

the substance> the -psycho.logical and spiritual substance of people 

and sucked it right out like a vampire> if you let h.im. And this 

was the p-:-oble.m ·of _being loyal to Mr .. Johnson> as oppose,_:_ to being 

loy.al tc - ~he President. I' would say his grea_tes~ defe.ct in char~ctcr : 

was exactly that, that he could not leave · a man whole with his · 

dignity> ap.d . his o~·m self-esteem. · 

M: 	 It's not either, is it> so much a mistreating an individual? 

D: 	 Although it sometim~s takes that form. 

11: 	 By all accounts> at least> there was some mistreatm~nt of close :• 

staff aides. 

D: 	 Reaming them out, bu·t it was his reental image .of wl~at loyalty to bim 

mennt. · I rememb~ c· a very vulgar expression that he used once to inc 

that eA-pressed it very well in talking of· an appointment. He used 

~ 
two of them as a matter of fact. "I want every guy n..'1.d I want his 
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pecker in my pocket!" That's one expression. The other expression 

was, 11! want a guy to be . 150 percent loyal, kiss my ass in Hacy's 

windo:1, and stand up and say "Iloy wasn 1 t that sweet! '" Every Il13.n 

·in that kind of a political position really wants that. lie scldoin 

. ' 
expresses it ~~ colorfu_Uy > or as d~rectly > as Mr. Johnson doE7s, 

- and he very seldom enforces", or tries to enforce» th~t kind of a . 

standard. He may .~ant it, but Johnson tried• . And indeed, he u~ed 

to test it! You've heard the ~tocy; you i-e~111hel: it"was all in the 

. press about. Bill :Moyez:s either wanting the Bundy job or so~thing; . · 

Under Secretary of State or some~hing, and how he put Moyers in his 
. . 

place-~ 	 There· are a ·thousand. stories ·that have been in the p~ess ,- . 

and many of .them are_ true, I'm certain. I mean, they ring true to 
.. 

me, I wasn't there. But I saw enough when I w~s there to .know 

that they just fi~ complet.ely. 

M: 	 Did the relationships with his staff people, yourself and oth~rs 

· that you were around, vary dependlng on his mood? Did- you ha·.,e highs 

· and lo•./s with him, where he'd get off ·of you for · awhile, this type 

of thing? 

D: 	 Yas. But ·I'll tell you something. In that yea-r with rnost of the 

Kennedy staff with him, he was extremely perceptive about the _lengths 

t~ which he could go with Kenu~dy staff . peo~lc. In the early days, 

I would say the first couple .of mo~ths after hls assuming the 
. 	 . 

presidency,- we worked very closely with him. I worltt:d with soine ­

variations, subst~ntial but not essential variations> the same way 

I'd worked with Kenn·edy > on appointments> for instance. Th::tt b.egan 

to change as his own staff came on. But during all . that yea~, he was 
~. 

very careful not to play the s:-1.mc g<lll\~ with the old Kennecly staff 
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that he did with his own . We were treated ~ith a great deal of 

deference. And while he would say for instanc~ what he did to me 

about people whom we were appointing> he would never have sai.d that 

to me.­ Never: 

M: Third person. 

·n: "¥es. It was always about somebody else. Psychologically it ·.had . the 

sace .effect . on me, to tell you the truth, and it impaired my - ~bili~y, 

.speaking personally now; · to be"of service to him, because 'I wo"uldn '"t 

go out and recruit a guy for whom I had respect if I thought he ~as_ 

going · to come into a situation in l'1hich· he was going to be denigrated 

in any way. I ' mean I couldn't do it in conscience. 

M: The Kennedy peopie began to leave during .the year that you.were th.ere, 

and ultimately there seems to have been · quite a lot of outside 

sniping at Mr. Johnson by ·some of these p~ople. Rad that begun 

t"n significant. amount by the time yoti left? 

D: There-were certain people like Schlesinger 7 . for instance; who declared 

war, I guess the day that John F. went into the ground. 

M: Is that pretty important 7 or is that insignificant? 

D: I don 1 t :think it's · importaat. I think you could have ·expected it. 

What the hell> Schlesinger is a social critic and he has that kind ,. 

of a temper.:>.ment. There was some of that going on over the . luncheon 

table over ·at : that place up on 17th Street and so forth, but mostly 

pr i vate 7 I would say. 

M: I was just wondering> these p2ople are the ones who had close 

contacts with the media and the opinion makers and so on 7 could they 

have sold this typa of view-­
~ 

D: I don't think they were t~ing to sell it. But I do think in certain.. 
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cases it ca~i? out, an<l I'm certain I .oysc: lf was guilty of this, 

particularly in the latter months that I was in the White House. · 

In a certain. sense when you have contact with these people as friends 

as well as professionals, without being conscious about it you do it." · 

It's a bad thing, and it's nothing ..to be proud of, but I think one 

..·.· 
does it, especially if you don't have this sense of lc;;yalty.-· It's 

. ·­
tough not to do it, if .the only thing .you '~e loy41 to· in an institutio~,. · ­

like the· presidency. . So I'm sure we · t1ere all ~ilty of that and 
... 

will ~ay for it ·s.om7where along _the line. 

M: . -. You said your work continued, at least -in the beginning,, pretty ~ch 
.· 

the sa.~e substance work, pretty much the sa~e as it .had und~~ - Preside~t 

Kennedy, in appointments, as one of the examples·. Did Mr.. Johnson's 
. ' 

requirements or standards change any really from what Mr. Kennedy 

had expected? . 

D: 	· Not significuntly. But as time wen~ - on, and I would _say ~n a J110nt:h,, 

two, ·three months afterward I began t:o find t~at there would have 
. 	 . 

to be two or three_or even half a dozen na.T.es for any position that 

we were seeking to fill. And that I couldn't get (lecisions. They 

would ge_t spit back. · I didn't deal, in other words, with the_ same 
. 	 . . 

degree 	of confidence~ On most appoint:cent~, especially after w~ 

. .. 
became established in the Kennedy days, unless -there ·were special 

circumatances, all of which I should- have known about anyway before 

I took them up, they got appointed.' 

M: 	 And you'd just s~bmit one or a ·few-­

D: 	 Or I'd say, "This guy has this ~rength and this one the otherir and 

~· there's this political or that political angle to it, and this is 


uhat we need." And we'd talk them over and bango! It beca~re 
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formalistic with Johnson. There would be a whole dossier , and there 

. 	 wasn't as n1i.lch give an.cl take about the natu-re of the job · and so forth. 

And I think quite unclerstandably that Johnson began to feel the 

need of his own people • 

.· 
M: . I . was goit':g . to say, was one of the things he w~rtted ..·to .do was, you _ 

--know, .clean house . but not really ·say so? .. "Get my men ·into the 
. 

depa~.ti::ients" ar:id _thi~. · kind of . thing• . 

.- D: Yes, but ·it wasn'·t so much the clean house thing, and ' I don't think 

~ he really .ever. had that feeling. I_ think he· just wa."lted his ad.minis­

tration to have his stamp on it, and that's perfectly legit and .. .. . . . . 

I used t~· keep saying to him, · "God, Mr. President, you've got to 

have yo~r own guy in here, this is a critical thing, the kind of 

people. that are selected." What .really happened was is that I went 

out of business. I first went out of busin~ss on the Latin Anieri..can 

area clanned fast. So .that I was really kind of putting my -two-cents 

in very timorously. 

M: 	 Those jobs are not very explicitly defined, anyway and when you start 

going out of pusiness· ­
. 

D: 	 You go ou~ of .business very gently. All of a sudden the:;:a 1 s nobody 

listening to you. 

M: 	 · And that's what happened on the appointments business? 

D: . Yes, that happened too. Then John ~l~cy came in and began to take over 

, . a stronger· role in the whole thing. Othe.r people got into it. The 

one I · remember with the greatest distaste was Liz Carpenter, who 

always used to cali up and have 50 women-­

M: 	 The east wing side? 

D: 	 Particularly Liz. And I used to tell her to go to hell, and told her 
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if she wanted to run the appointments she. could come on over and do 

it, "Well, the President said to me he wants 1nore women,~~ nnd I · 

said, -"Well, bull::;hit!" There was. a lot of that stuff: going on. 

M: The President didn't ever say to you, 	for example, ·that he wanted 

more 	women or .more. of any minority .groups people? 


• 

D: 	 Oh .yes, oh yes, he was very strong on the women's · side and I used -''· 

to have to keep a tabulation of how IM:ny women ~e had appointed and · 

how many of this_, and that, an4 the other thing. 

The Kennedy way, and this was because we had 	all worked with 
.• . 

him for so' long, yo:u didn't have to make things explicit, you -sen,s':!d 

it. Mr • .Johnson was a ne~ ltla~. We were ·new to him and he was new 

to .us a~d we .did~ 1 t have th~t same sense, . so that . th.e thing then 

became more bur:::aucratit:, if you will. Six .dossi~rs for e~ry job, 

reports on how we stood on·· .this and that and the other thing, and it: 

wasn't .as much fun. It wasn't as loose,- and neither was it as · 

efficient in terms of rapid movement and decision. Things slowed ·. 

up; I thi~k the ··~ecoi:-d wi.11 show ~t least on the p~rsonnel side and ...,. 

in other ·areas in . th~· spring of .1964• . I think they slowed up·a .. 

little bit, all sorts of decisi~ns, because he ~as using fundamentally 

not o::ly at tha White House but otherwise the apparata of the·l(cnne..dy 

Administration. As he advanced along in tii:e he becaw.e·rnore reserved, 

. 	 . 
more skeptieal, .more unsure that what was being flushed onto . him~ . 	 . . . 

-whether it was a personnel .decision or anything else, rep.resented 

the Johnson point of view. And for awhile in th{s period~ I -used . 

to deal a lot through Walter and I'd le.t ~falter carry the ball. 
-· 

H: Did it get harder to recruit good men 	 for President Johnson as compared 
. ~' .. 

to what had been in your role with Kennedy? 
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J): 	 There wasn't th~ ·same old mnglc, the country was dif.fcrcnt; there 1 s 

no doubt, in attitudes of people in coming to lfoshington; it was a 

matter of uncertainty• . What was the new Pr~sident going to. be like. 

But only to_that extent. I would say we did not have a significa..'lt. 	 . 
. 

amount of difficulty in recruiting good people with the advent of · · 

_Mr. ..Johnson • 

M: 	 You may be able to answer a question that · has puzzled : 111~ b_ecause 

I've gotten answe.rs on bot~ si~es. Were · there actual instances ·of 

people whose appointm~nt had ·been decided upon artd then ·undecided 

upon. ·because· of newspaper leaks? 

D: 	 Yes, oh yes. · 

M: 	 That did .happen? 

D: 	 Oh, yes. That was terribly irritating, and another manifestation of 

this--you know--"I 've go~ _to be at the cer-.ter of powe! thing." · 

· oh yes, there ·were. I can't think of some specific ones, but .I 

can tell you damned sure that _there w~re. 

M: 	 And sometimes the individuals themselves probably not the sou~ce of 

the leak imr?lved, .a - ~ot of people have to know • 
. . 

D: 	 Yes. Well, it's· so ·easy to have happen because, when I was doiPg 

it any-.ilay, hell, ·r was doing checks on people--two or 'three or four 

peopl~--third pers ons who I would ask about John Jones> and oftentime~ 

'Would say "John .Jones is being considered . for sqmethi~g." . And 

sometimes Johnson forced ·c,r· almost made those situations happen that 

way. He would delay in making the decision and then the corctacts 

-· 	 or the conversations--as time wc:it ·on you have to make a decision 


if you're going to make it, and then you get your announccme1'c out, 


but if you di:Uy-dally there are e cuugh people involv~d that it's 


I 
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almost 	mor:tlly certain to leak out. 

M: Right. 


·n: And that hai>pencci on ~ couple of occasions. 


M: 	 You said you went out of business on ·Latin America pretty quick. 


Did that occur in the Pana.ma crunch right at the ?eginuing of the 


administration? 


P: 	 .Yes~·· it did. I was . sent down· to Pa,n<,lllla with Spider---the Under 


Sec~etary of Defense-­

M: 	 CyrJ.lS Vance? 
. 	 . 

D: 	 Cy Vance, right .. · Ue went dotm and wac:Ied through the muck of that· 


insurrection, · or ·pack, · and .the gas and all that kind of ·st':1ff> so 


that I wasn't really out of it at that point. Bu~ I .wasn~t r~ally 


in it, either. 


M: 	 Did President Johnson · send .you or did Mac Bundy send you? 

D: 	 No; Johnson. 

M: 	 Johnson sent you ' dotm there? 

· D: Yes. But I don't really know what ·motivated·him on that. Maybe this 

is an area where ..Y.ennedy had moved out pretty ·quickly and he felt · · 

that this· was an area where he could establish ?is independence of 

the old Kennedy pol°icy rather quickly. I don't know, to te~~ you the 

truth. But he di_d, I think, make a very conscious effort: to say 

"Now there's a. Johnson Latin American policy." . 
I . 

M: 	 How did you ·relate . to the Bundy operation? You weren't a member of 


the NSC operation, techntcally, were you? 


D: 	 That's correct. The way I got . into the Bundy operation was after 


Cuba won the Bay of.Pigs, which among the Mafia--that is O'Donnell, 


myself, and O'Brien--we had lunch one day right: shortly afte~ha~ 
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ancl Kenny was~~ mcnos involved in that busines::;, O'Brien wasn't 

at ·all, and I was virtualiy not at all • 

. l-1: 	 That was a good thing not to · bc.: ·involved in. 

D: Yes~ .Well, maybe we could have avoided it. But in any event, t•7C 

decided, 	the three of us, they two ·asked me to go to hmch with 

.. . . . . ' . ­
them and I went and the conversation we~t something like: '~~e don't 

· know a damned "thing about foreign".a:ffairs~ .Y.ou don't know very 

much more but you know more .than we." I knew a hell of a lot more 

than they thought :f. knew. · .And, "Therefore we want you .to · be one ­

of the inner people who keeps a ·watch on that : thing, and ~hat ·· 

Goddamn:d .Goodwin and Schlesinger, crazy nuts on Latin Areerica, 

and why don't you?" So I . appointed myself in effect the liaison. 

guy for Afrl.<:a and Latin American and the l-1"nite House because .the 

NFC staff was not that highly developed at that point. 

M: 	 Bundy didn't have specialists as they later ·had at that point? 

D: 	 That's right~ Goodwin was kind of involved in it, and Schlesinger 

stuck.his nose in in Latin America and Africa and anything else 

he wanted to • . So from then on, right after the Bay o_f Pigs, I 

used to go to · the staff meeting every morning. It also · tms useful 

in te·rms of the head-hunting side of the for~ign af.faics side, and 

I got in that way t .oo. So I knew what was going on, what t~e 

requirements ~n various countries were, and that could relate to my 

• 
responsibility as far as ambassadorial and aid mission director 

appointments. · And I got in_on the foreign affairs field back-ways 

through that whole personnel side of the operation. 

-· 
M: 	 And you ultimately had some responsibilities in the foreign aid field, · 

too. 
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D: 	 Right» same w::iy. 

M: 	 But that ·was more because of the lack of development a.t that tirr~ of 

the Bundy s.taff than anything else; in other words · you were fiiling 

a void that wasn't filled by .anybody else ~hen?. 

D: 	 Yes. also ·because of. my past interests and exp~ricnce in goverrunent• 

I h~d worked on ·that for . awhile • .. 

M:. 	 What .happen.::d to the Buody operation when Mr. Johnson took over.? · 

Was there a ·fairly sharp change? · 

D: 	 No, there wasn't. Bundy was, for all intent .and purp~ses» very 

high an the tot~m pole. He played it ·partly..out of institution~l 

loyalty and I think .partly out of self-interest; 

M: · 	You ~aid. that you .shortly went out of business on Latin America. 

Was that because of some specffic advice that you gave that the 

·president didn't like? 

D: 	 Oh no. I think that this was just that this was probably _- the first 

a~ea, or one of the · first, that Mr. Johnson, in effect~ took over. 

M: 	 Sometimes .people have said .in a~alyzing him that .he had some kin~ of 

special feel or interest for Latin American affairs generally• .. ... 

D: 	 Well I think he had ~ind of a rom~ntic, ·Tex:-Mex view of Latin.. Ame;rica~ ·· 

and feeling of special relationship becau;e of the Texas-Mexican 

proximity. I personally felt that that relat~onship : an~ that knowledge 

of. the Spanish speaking people, to wi ·· the Mexicans dotm along the 

border, .always really distorted his view of ..Latin A.m~rican r~lations. 

M: 	 Wall, he certainly got into public relations trouble ·with· Latin . 

American policy fai.ri.y soon, Panama and a year later in the· Dominican 

Republic. Was he taking bad advice or was that his predilection 

that got him into those difficulties ? 
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D: 	 I .would say th~ Panama situation was not at all attributable to Johnson,, 

and indeed if anything that can be laid at the feet of the Kennedy 

Administration· for not having> as we started to do, · Carl Kazcn and 

I very early ln · the ga~ try to square ~hat business away. In a 

sense that was an accident,, like ~ lot of those .little accidents of 
. 	 . 

history, but in another sense it was a · failut"e on o_ur part,. on _the 

Kennady Administration's . part> to take enough aggt"essive actiori to . . 	 . . . : 

fure~.tall the kimi of situation that arose there. It was · a very 

tinderboxy situation and \·7e kneti it> we knew it early· in the g~e; 
0 • L 	 • ·'· 

· we st~rted to move toward it and set up mechanisms and so forth,." 

-
but the . mecha~isms ·never really delivered reasonable solutions to 

the pressures ' that were building up and were always . there. So tha~ 

was strictly something that got dropped in Johnson's lap. · I .think he .. 

began mcaking .his mistakes> .however> in terms of who he depended on 

wi.thin the government, at that stage in the game. 

M: 	 That early? 

D: · Yes. · I say this, knowing ·full well that this is Yith the advice ~nd 

the assistance .of hindsight. It's ea~ier to . perceive it .now. ·Let . 

ine recite the -situation. We had a ·meeting in th;e Cabinet room on 

the Pa.na.-na. . situation> both Secretaries McNamara and Rusk were there> 
: 	 . 

· d1n Ch~ire?a·n of the -!_o~nt " Chiefs and some o~hers~ Bundy and ·~s~lf, 

Spider 	Vance•.And as usual ~r. Rus~ was playing the Buddha game, 

and a.lsa as usual Mr. McNamara moved in aggressively in the .face 

of a live situation. And he gave an order that day--he gave it,. not 

even the President--the decision was made to do something with 

respact to the· troops or something, and I forget what: it was. And 
·~ 

McNamara went out and put in the phone calls and gave the comtiiand> 
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which was basically ·a political command. It involved the Panama 

command, but it. was a political judgment. 

M: 	 Everything· th1.?re does. 

D: 	 Right. You're so right. So I would say at that time you began to . 

see· the very strong position of Mr. McNamara and the military, and 
. 	 . 

Mr. Johnson fell intp . it very easily and ver:y comfo~tahly. Again, 

because in rrry judgment, now .analyzing him a little bit> he· 4ealt 

fund,aijlentally in raw power. In some sense the subtletie~, as great 

. a politician as he is--the subtleties of politics were · lost_on h~. 

I would stinimarize it m;;self by saying that he thought any problem · 

could be solved with more--more peop~e, more money, more food, . mo~e 

whatever. More! 

N: 	 More troops. 

D: 	 More. It was his basi c solut·ion . to anything, and you can see · it. 

It . cuts across his dome.stic programs, you know, the way he loved 

long lists of accomplishii'.ents, all these quantitative. And it just 

so happens, in my opinion anYl..;a.y, that most of the most difficult 

prob lems. that we have, lVh~ther the:y're international or dome$tic, 

really require qualitative sensitivity and judgments and ac.tions. 

And that ~as particularly true, if I may say so; perhaps not at · the 

time tha t we were involved in the crisis with the gas and the bullets 

and all that. kind of stuff, but under lying whateve~ you did .to· react 
.. 

to tha·t physical ~pheaval was the ·necessity to have a sense .of ·what 

the underlying political, and social, and psychological tensions · 

~ were. And that was, in almost every occasion, completely lost on 

Lyndon 	B. 

H: 	 You n:cnt i oned then Rusk being ou t of a decision like this. ls- it 
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not true then that Johnson sort of . rehabilitLttcd Rusk and the State 

Departr:ient generally as compared tl> the latter part of the Kenn:::dy 

Administration? 

D: 	 Rehabilitated in the sense th<lt he said often and loud., "Ny ·trusi: 

is in 	the Secretary of State .and .the apparatus of forei.gn affairs." 

He saic! 	it ·often:....:. 

M: 	 But · that didn't make it so? 
. 	 . . . 

D: 	 ~ut· that's no.t the way he. really operated. I mean the Bundy staff> · 

if anything, grew in importance::o particularly aft;er Bundy left. I 

don't 	really think he operated essentially much differen~ than. 

Mr. Kennedy, or I think any other contempor~ry president has t~ 

· operate, including the present one. You've got to ·build that 

cadre of personal· staff who can help you be the chief executive • 
. 

M: 	 Is it just an incapacity· on the part of the State Departµient bureaucracy 

to . fulfill that kind of role? 

D: 	 That's a long> complicated top·ic. Personally., I believe. that the 

. Depa.rtr:l2nt c;>f State from an organizational and mostly fro10 its · own 

· sense of what it is::o th~t is., partaking more of the characteristics 

of .'l bui:eaucracy like the ·Civil Service or the ICC than an instrume!lt 

of presidential--! don't think they have lost the sense of being> 

. in a 	very special sen~e» an ~s~rumantality of the preside~cy in 

who-::t responsib.ility for the conduct of foreign affairs is placed. 
. . 

M: 	 Hore i!l. bett.Jeen FSO's and civil servants_, T;,!hich used to be fairly 

clear-cut. 

D: 	 They really see themselves more a.s controllers of foreign policy 

themselves as an institution, not the President. They don't sec 
'C" 

themselves, for instance, in the same uay that the Budget Bu~au 
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does as a staff arr.t or an nrm of the· presidency, and I think that's 

where the great· error c~~s, and that's the fundamental problem, 

in the State Department~ The foreign service and diplomacy goes on 

and on, we serve impartially every President. 
,. 

Take the questi~n o~ ~ppointments, and t~is was from ·Mr~ Rusk · 

all the way down. "Goddamn it, Dean11 the. Pr~si.dent .. whether it's 
-

Kennedy or Johnso!l wants the best pos~ible man for Ambassador to x. 
~... 

given all the requirements <:>f X. He wa~~s you. to. look througli the 

foreign service first and see what's the be.st you 1 ve got there and 

stack that guy up against the whole universe of people who might be ·· 

available~ · And then he wants your recomroendation." The depart~~J;l.t . 

and Mr. Rus!t consistently would never s1:1ggest anybody from outside 

the foreign service., and they us~d to tell me, ."That's yours and th.e · 

Presidents responsibility ·to come up with alternate suggestions if 

you don't like ours from the foreign service." 

N: And t11en they wouldn 1 t be happy if an outsider was appointe'd? 

D: Yes. They didn't want to take on that responsibility. No~1, if I. 

· put myself in· the position of Secretary of State I ~ould look on 

myself not. as anothe~ staff adviser t(;> 'the Presi~ent ·c~mp~. ting · a.rr.ong 
. . . 

o thers» .I would ~e pri:nus inter pares, pra.ctically the Pri~e .Minister. 

M: Which is · traditionally for. historians ~hat . the positi~n of .the 

Secretary of the Ship of State has been, or often bee~~ at.. least. 

D: In my opinion Mr. Rusk vas~Just a Goddrunned,' big, overgrown, good 

Deputy Assistant Secretary! 

H: That's a pretty good summary of qualifications. 

D: H~ was a bureaucrat's bureaucrat. He would have been a very good 

career office in the military, he probably should have done. ~at. 
,... 
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H: 	 Your other area, before finishing your Latin Ai!tcrican service an<l in 

winding 	up, your other arc~ with Mr. Kenned? I b~lieve if!-volved 

relations with labor which was your older specialty. Did that 

continue under Mr. John~rnn for at-1hile too? 

D: 	 No. 
. ... 

M: 	 You went out of business on that at the time of the transition? 

D: 	 I maintained contact·with the labor m~vement, .but he. ~oved in very 

rapidly to establish his own direct relationships, . and _conduct 

of business with the labor movement was almost all on the Lyndon 
.... . . .. 	 ~ 

Johnson-George Meany level. 

-M: 	 In other words~ he didn't need a liaison ~an to talk to George Meany, 

he did that :;1.lone·. Had labor learned to trust him or tolerate him 

more by then? 

D: 	 By tha!: time the relationship had changed, and it cha.1ged in my 


·opinion basically sho~tly after his taking over tha presidency, or 


moving 	into the presiden·cy. He had t:t.10 ~eetings .and they were back 

to back. One was with the business council and ·the other one was 

with the trade union le~ders. · And I _'ll never forget it~ · I sat in 

·on both meetings and I heard practically the same bullshit given to 

both groups and they both ate it up! He was phenomenal that way, it 

was pure blarney, but they · really-­

M: 	 If it worli"..s! 

D: 	 Yes! Who can knock it> that's right! I found it so. incongruous 


because the both ·speeches were almost identical. 


M: 	 And here the businessmen arc suppose to be super sophisticates. 
-· 

D: 	 They're the worse 7 believe me> they're the ·worse ever. They ·~o for . 
~ 

it like 	trouts to flies. Fantastic! 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



.. 

. 29 


'H: 	 Were there any othc£ areas of your doillaln as a special assistant? 

Xou were liaison with the Catholic Church according to Patrick 

·' 
Anderson under Kennedy. Was tht!re a neccsi;ity for a liaison with the . 

Catholic Church under Johnson? 

D: 	 OnlY.. once did tha·t con-.e up ~ig, ancl it wasn 1.t so much the Catholic 

Church. There was an awful lot of pressur'e being. p~t on. by_· the iet-1i.sh .. . . . . 	 . . -- .. . ­~ 

cor::munity. _At that time .you will recall Vatica~ . Council .II t-1as .. 

going fuil steam, and the question w~s on Jewish respons~bility in 

· th~ Catholic creed or in some part of the canon law that put -the 

responsibility on the Jew for killing Christ. · And .it was a hel!" of 

a lot of p_ressure on some parts, on behalf of some parts of the 

Je•..:ish comr::u~ity, the AJC part, if that means . anything to you. 

There ·were many others within the Jewish comt::unity who felt that 

the United States government ought to stay the hell out of it,_ and 

.. 
that there were plenty of Jewish organizations that had direct 

access 	into church people and that it could be done that way. 

I hap~en to ·feel very strongly on that. I am a Catholic, but, 

boy' you know' .. it Is. a curious thing. Kennedy was a he11 of a lot 

more tough on ·separation of chur~h · and state t~n _any P.cotestant 

· would 	ever b~> or Jew as far as that goes. And yet .nry coll~ague 
. 	 . . 

Myer Feldnah at that time was carrying th•l load for · the AJC .on_this 

question of getting the President to exert his influence on the. 	 . . 

church:n~n .in Rome · to fix this par ticular thing up. I was · s_crea.'lting ·. 

like hell "Stay out of it Mr. President, it 1 s none of yo':1r business> 

you're going to get a lot of people down on you on both sides. And 

the Protestant community particularly are going to be down on your 

ear." 
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M: 	 And he did stay out of it, didn't he? 

D: 	 And ha did stay out of it. But, boy; that was a real~y rol.1gh 'little 

hassle. between me and Feldman for the President:.• s ear, and ~ was 

going around eplisting everybody's support 'that I eould possibly · 

get, short of Mrs. Johnson. 

·.M: 	 You'd b·een there iong enough to know how to play .the · g~me ·by _then 

too! ' 
> • 

D: 	 There's always that among staff people, you know. 

M: 	 There's no real passion for anonymity~ is there? 
. 	 . 

D: 	 Well, it's a question of not so much the outside world,"it 1 s a 

question .of getting the ear of the boss. 

M: 	 -Right, .being. the man that's important. 

D: · And we didn't have too nruch striving like that . in either the Kennedy 

or Johnson staff,. but there we.ce issues. Feldman was a particularly 
·~. . 	 . 

persistent son-o.1:-a-bi.tch, particularly on an issue. ~hat had so.ue 

relationship to his influence in the _Jewish community. He really 

was! I mean, if I'm described as the liaison or representative of 

Catholic interests . in the l~ite House, my God--about ' the most -I 

evt;?r did was_ to show priests and nuns through t~e .President's office 

on visiting day. But Feldman was right in the-re, very ·strong -on jets 

to Israel, ·or this kind of an issue. .. 
M: 	 Q.f course they . have a lobby that's pretty good domestically. 

D: 	 Yes. The only thing I never ·could ·'figure out really was .it seemed 

to me that any p:residential as.sistant, thi~ is critici.sm of my ·~r_ie:td 

Feldman, real~y ought to have been more objective than he was on. this 

question. On the Jewish question he was for the Jew, be 1-1as not-
working 	for the President. And I sa i..i that to Johnson one t~. 
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M: 	 That goes o·utsidc the .definition. of an asi:;istantJ really. 

D: 	 And that was not true of many of_my other Jewish colleagues. For 
... 

inst.:tnce, a guy like Lee White was meticulous, but I wouldn't say 
-~ . 

--th.:it of Mike. 

M: 	 }lhat about then toward the end of '64, was it this feeling that you 


had that you were · going · out <?f business o~ various things ·tha°t · lcd 


you to accept ~h~ . ~~p~intment a~ Ambassador to Chile? 


·n·: 	 Oh no. As a matter of fact, each of us had made a private agreement 


with the President, and I think they were ·all pretty much 'the same, 


.· 	tpose of. us who stayed around, Larry 0 'Brien's I know w~s th9 sama. 

as mine, which was "Okay, Mr~ President we'll stay until after . the 

election," which was all that he asked. He said ·11All I want you · to 

do is .to stay with me until--." I kept saying, "Mr. President, you 

need your own staff,. you don 1 t want us · around here, we' re · a bunch 

of has-beens. You need people that are loyal to you." And I 

·. 	 made this speech a week after the assassination. And he went into 

his speech, you know, "I need you more than Jack Kennedy .4id, 11 an~ 

all that kind .of stuff, and he said, ''Well, at least you can st~./ 

-./around until after the election. 11 I said, "Okay, that's _perfec-c::iy 

valid, in terms .of the ~;xternal world, and mayb'e what · ,~e can help 

you with, fine~ You can depend · on me. I'll stay here as long ·as you 

need me~ and certainly until after the election. 11 So · that was ·the 

deal. 

M: · 	 I see. So that was ·fairly explicitly understood. What were the 


circums::ances of your appointmant then? 


D; 	 We11, that was the deal that was made then in January. And . then things 


got a little fuzzier as time went on> and it was really not ~ear that 
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I or anybody else was going to leave at a precise.: date. Ti1osc kind!,> 

of agreements are not that hard nnyway. I had maclc up my .mind that 

he really did need his own p~ople, and more and more I was not 

,.
underemployed, bi:it no't employed in the way that I ,.,anted to be. 

And then · the Chilean election occurred in ·september, and people ..• 

with whom I had. -~i~t:ained _liaiso~ _-wit~, the C~ris.ti.an democr~ts . 
. . 
precisely, it became kind of~ natural .for .people ar~und town ~nd 

in the department . and elsewhere to think of me: I was trying to make · 

Career decisions and it was a co:nfortab_le, easy exi.t OU~ f?f a 

situation that could have been for him difficult. Y.ou know, I 
. 	 . 

obviously don't go and ask him. The word go~ to him indirectly. 

. ­
One night he said to me, "I .unders.tand you want t:_o . be Ambassa~or to 

Chile," and I said, "As a matter of fact, I would be interested in 

it." He said, "What the hell do you want. t_o do that for? . You 

make and break more ambassadors in a week than"--which also bothered 

me. But he had -that attitude toward ambassadors~ . too, "they're 

out at the _end of the string." . But I said, '~es, I know, but there's__ . 

- . 
a time for people to go, and I .think it'.s time for me to go from ·here. 

I · have ·never done this kind of work and I'm interested in these 

people and . I think I can do some good for our colW'.try ar.d I . would 

. . 
find it interesting." He said> "Okay; if you want to do it; fine." 

.N: . Did that pretty well end your close personal contact: with him> when · 
• 	 • • 11 ~ • 

you took that post and went to Chile? · 

D: 	 I came back and I saw him once, veri briefly~ on .one of mY excursions 

back to the United States. Very brief conversation. 

H: 	 But he clidn' t consult you specially, as compa1·ed to other ,ssadvrs , 

this type of thing because of ycur--? 
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D: No. I · would not say that ·our relationship was ever ti.at: co~y. It 

was always pleasant ·and politc--rnorc than that, warmish. But after 

you subtracted out the Lyndon Johnson blarney, ."! was just another 

guy around the place, frankly. I didu't have any special position 

·; under President Johnson• . 

H: You had one tr.ajor ·flap, I b~lieve, in Chile while you "t·Tere there, 

the exposure -of Camelot. 

D: I had b·10 .. 

H: Was there another?· 

D: ·The one ~s not Vf~ry wel~ kno~~- The Cmrielot one was really not my 

f;:!.ult. I had sent a secret cable _up raising hell., but it was le~ke~ 

out of the State Department for reasons that were. l~s.s. kno-wn--well, · 

I know what the reasons were, in order to participate the ~hing 

as a public discussion thing; And as it turned out it happened 

just the ·way whoever figured it out-­

M: . It was purpose~y leaked. 

D: · It was purposely lea.~ed, no doubt of it, and I've never been able 

to find out ."exactly who did it, although I have a pretty good idea. 

And it was do~e for essentially a good purpose, and it turned out 

right. It elevated the whole thing up to the p~esideo.tial level and · 

. he set up a board, and so the effect was good. My role .in it .however 

was just an irate guy operating within the normal. channels. · I 

didn 1 t have any intention of blowing it into a big. national issue. 

M: But you had dis~overed it, the Camalot -operatton, suddenly and 
inadvertantly as far as the opec~tion was concerned, so _it was going 

I on without the knowledge of the chief of mission at the time? 

D: That's right. 
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M: What about the President? Was it being carried on with or without 

his knowledge? Do you have any way of knowing that? 

D: Oh, I don't think he would have known. I mean, this is not the 

kind of thing that he would normally have had any occasion to know 

about. It was handled, unfortunately, as a very routine thing within 

the Department of the Army and their R and I, Research and Intelligence. 

M: Do you have anything else that might be important to say about Camelot? 

D: No. But the other issue that I referred to was one that I think is 

a little more significant in historical terms as far as the President 

is concerned. There was a big price increase in copper in '75, 

and I got a cable one day saying--a very top-secret cable--from 

Bundy, saying, "Use any combination of carrots and sticks to get the 

Chileans committed to 100,000 tons of copper at thirty-six cents." 

And by this time the price of copper, the world price, was up 

climbing to fifty and it was going up. And I fired a cable back 

saying, "Have you really thought of all the implications of such 

a move?" I knew that the cable, or the direction for the cable, had 

come right from the President. 

M: Why was this? 

D: Because it had come from Bundy, and because of the circuit that it 

had come on. And I even think the content of the cable suggested 

that that's where it had come from. All I did was f ire back and say, 

"Have you really thought it out?" And I got another cable back 

late in the night saying, "Harriman and Tony Solomon will be arriving 

on Jet Star number so and so, arrange clearances, meet--secre t 

mee ting." So in e ffect what t he President did was j ust say "out, 

screw around, we don't want this soft head bothering us." 
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M: 

D: 

M: 

D: 

M: 

D: 

Then they were able to force the Chileans down? 


Yes, they did. 


Does this kind of thing leave a lingering aftereffect? 


Sure. And I myself thought the Chileans were stupid. They should 


not have done it, and we should not have insisted that they do it. 


We could have done other things. And they did try and make a deal 


and we did make a deal. We guaranteed them certain XM loans; in 


effect, we kept the price down but we paid for it in other ways. 


The Anaconna (?) Company paid for it actually in terms of some 


tax payments, so it was kind of a screwy deal. I was really afraid 


of the political impact of it. 


You mean on the Frei government, not in America. 


No, between U.S.-Chilean relations. I thought the Frei government 


would balk at it and they didn't. Inexplicable reasons on the part 


of the imperialism syndrome. I just figured they didn't think they 


were strong enough to do it. And I must say, it didn't create 


a lot of whoopla. That happened incidentally, that trip happened 


--a curious little anecdote here that's not important to anything, 


but at the same time that Harriman and Solomon were there, Bobby 


Kennedy was there. They were down there at the same time that Bobby 


Kennedy was passing through on his Southern trip, which was very 


convenient for me, because I didn't have to accompany Bobby Kennedy 


anywhere. All I had to do was to put up with him around the house, 


which this was wild enough. But the funny thing was that the night 


Harriman arrived Bobby Kennedy was out in the public living room 


with all the press, you know, all the New Yorkers and Washington 


guys were along, lots of friends of mine and all sharp newspapermen, 


r.:;:: ::-: !. :> ·~:? :;:::::o 

i:: :) ' ? ~9'2, ~ 3C . .3.5 

';· ,: 1~!3_c._ tJ'f·~ ~ 

:;,; _,~ .· - ;, •!'{ \ ::. ::; -~..:-~JJ7 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



· ·~· 

36 

and Harriman \ms sitting right next door in the family living room;. 

We were conducting our business and th~y "never tum'..>led to it. 

li: Which was · a real coup. 

D: _Right. And kind of fun. I alwa:ys enjoyc~ putting it over on the 

press. 
. 

M: You don't ge~ away with too much with them, and when you do get: away 

you can treasure that moment. What then, ·circumstances if any of 

any special note, led to your decision to take this job and leave 

that position in 1967? Was there some policy matter involved here?· 

D: No, · no policy matter. I must say I didn't feel that our Latin 

American policy as a whole ·was going vecy we~l~ it really deteriorated 
.• 

--except for Punta ·del Esta where I thought the President was 

masterful, myself,~ really thought he did a hell of. a job, considering 

the lost ground that he had ·as a result of the DR and so forth. But 

as far as Chile was concerned, I had no complaints at all. It tJas 

fine, the government support{!d our activities .down there all the 

way. No, it was not dissatisfaction either with the administration 

or any serious di~satisfaction toi ith the policies or general policy,, . 

or policy toward Chile. It was basically becaus·~ - ~ was beginning 

to be rather uncomfortable, r .epresenting the .united States on lots 

·of. issues where we were pre~ching and attempting to move t~e . Chileans 

and others along, and at the sama time back home things seemed to · 

be, at least to me, falling apart. This was· the summer of the bad 

riots, and I r~ally felt that what talents I had might better-~I 
I, I I 
t ' 

had been thinking about this for sor..e time--that my ~alents . really, 

governmental and otherwise, ought to be put to ·work :Ln my own 

country and not abroad. It seemed to me a little inconsisten~ 
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Then a friend of mine, a congressman from this uistrict, called 

me and said, "I've been talking to some of your friends up here, 

Rob Dohcne (?), and Kazen and we all think you'd be perfect for this 

job." · I said, "I ' .m happy> I don't want to leave really> maybe in 
' . 

another couple of years, yeah, but not now." But I was coming up 

to take a "degrce somewhere, so I said I'd come ~y and see the governor, 

and I did: And he talked me into it. But no dissatisfaction in 

my job, I was very happy. I think reasonably successful, at least I · 

thought so, so that it was just a basic decision to come back and 
. . . 

. do something on the domestic side. 

M: Again, don't let me limit you. Are there areas of your contact that 

are important that I had no way of knowing about, or episodes, 

anecdotal or otherwise, that you would like to put in? 

·D: There's one thing that I could tell you about, and I'll just men:ti.on 

that there is an important thing that led me · to : draw certain conclusions 

about Mr. Johnson and his character. and personality, which I have 

tucked away in my private files, and they're not even going into 

your very sacr~d tape. 

M: Will you make sure that they go somewhere sometim'!!? Either as .o. 

bequest or--? 

D: They'll go somewhere sometime, but maybe by the time they g~~ that'll 

M: 

be when I die a~d . nobody will be interested in it • 
. . 

Just so they don• t get burned up in an attic· somewhere·, or something 

like that • 

. D": 

.,
M: 

No, they won't • 

Do you have personal papers that you might be putting in the Johnson 

collection? 

D: I'm holding onto my papers at this point. 
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H: Well. thank you very much for all your tin1e 1 it was very» very nice 

.of you. 

D: I enjoyed it. ' 
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